
                                  

AGENDA
For a meeting of the

ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
to be held on

TUESDAY, 26 SEPTEMBER 2017
at

10.30 AM
In the

WITHAM ROOM - COUNCIL OFFICES, ST. PETER'S HILL, 
GRANTHAM. NG31 6PZ

Aidan Rave, Chief Executive    

Chairman
Councillor Mike Exton

Councillor Ashley Baxter
Councillor Lynda Coutts
Councillor Nick Craft

Councillor Bob Russell (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor Brian Sumner
Councillor Martin Wilkins

Invited Cabinet Members
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley Cabinet Member for the Environment

Support Officer: Lucy Bonshor Tel: 0476 40 60 80 extn 6120
E-mail: l.bonshor@southkesteven.gov.uk 

Members of the Committee are invited to attend the above meeting to consider 
the items of business listed below.

1  COMMENTS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 

To receive comments or views from members of the public at the Committee’s 
discretion.

2  MEMBERSHIP 

The committee to be notified of any substitute members.

3  APOLOGIES 

4  DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS 

Members are asked to disclose any interests in matters for consideration at the 
meeting.

5  ACTION NOTES FROM THE MEETING HELD ON 18TH JULY 2017 (Pages 3 - 11)

6  UPDATES FROM THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

mailto:l.bonshor@southkesteven.gov.uk


7  BIG CLEAN UPDATE (Pages 12 - 16)

Report ENV670 from the Cabinet Member for Environment.
(Enclosure)

8  DOG FOULING (Pages 17 - 22)

Report ENV665 from the Cabinet Member for the Environment.
(Enclosure)

9  STREET LITTERING ENFORCEMENT (Pages 23 - 25)

Report ENV668 from the Cabinet Member for the Environment.
(Enclosure) 

10  TRADE WASTE 

A verbal update will be provided to the Committee on Trade Waste.

11  ANY OTHER BUSINESS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN, BY REASON OF SPECIAL 
CIRCUMSTANCES, DECIDES IS URGENT 



MEETING OF THE
ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY, 18 JULY 2017 10.30 AM

GROUP MEMBERS PRESENT

Councillor Ashley Baxter
Councillor Lynda Coutts
Councillor Nick Craft
Councillor Mike Exton (Chairman)

Councillor Bob Russell (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor Brian Sumner
Councillor Martin Wilkins

EXECUTIVE MEMBERS 
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for Environment
Councillor Jacky Smith, Cabinet Member Major Developments

OFFICERS

Strategic Director Environment & Property (Tracey Blackwell)
Executive Manager Environment (Ian Yates)
Business Manager Venues and Facilities Management (Paul Stokes)
Principal Environmental Health Officer (Pete Rogers)
Community Engagement and Policy Development Officer (Carol Drury)
Premises and Facilities Co-ordinator (Carolyn Baker)
Democratic Officer (Lucy Bonshor)

9. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

None disclosed.

10. ACTION NOTES FROM THE MEETING HELD ON 23 MAY 2017

The Chairman asked the Committee if they agreed the action notes were a 
correct record.  One Member felt the notes did not reflect the whole 
conversation that had taken place around the content of the work plan.  Items 
that he had referenced such as energy efficiency in existing housing was not 
included.  He had also spoken about cost in relation to the Big Clean and had 
queried with the Cabinet Member how staff were being procured.  He had 
asked that priority be given to local staff and students.  He had been informed 

Page - 3

Agenda Item 5



at the time of this suggestion that it was not possible to employ staff based on 
these preferences as this would be positive discrimination under Equity law.  
He also referred to page seven of the action notes where it had stated that litter 
was not a major problem.    Another Member of the Committee and the Cabinet 
Member Environment both stated that when this reference had been made it 
had been in relation to a photograph of weed growth not litter.
The Member also referred to issues that had been raised in relation to 
Highways and the A1.  The Committee was reminded that responsibility for 
such roads did not fall within the remit of South Kesteven District Council.

11. UPDATES FROM THE PREVIOUS MEETING

The Chairman informed the Committee that updates on topics would be dealt 
with during the course of the meeting.

12. OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REMITS

The Community Engagement and Policy Development Officer presented report 
LDS233 on behalf of the Chairman.  At the Committee’s inaugural meeting a 
presentation had been given on potential items for consideration which could 
be included in the remit of the Committee.   Work had been undertaken to 
develop a remit for the Committee using this information and the remit of the 
Cabinet Member for Environment.  It was for Members to agree the remit and 
then more detail could be added to the topics to be included within the work 
programme.

The Cabinet Member stated that he had an extensive portfolio but felt that 
specific topics such as Licensing did not need to be included within the 
Committee’s remit.  The work of the Licensing Committee was acknowledged 
and Members were reminded that these Committees were not responsible for 
determining policy.  Any policies introduced or updated that would determine 
how a Licensing Committee discharged its duties would be brought to the 
Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee for recommendation to Council.  

The Strategic Director Environment and Property indicated that there would be 
overlaps between the Overview and Scrutiny Committees.  Items such as 
energy efficiency in council owned dwellings would be more aimed at the 
Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee as this would 
be part of the HRA Business Plan, Asset Plan and Capital Investment.  The 
examples given in the remit were generic and a flexible approach should be 
taken.

A reference was made to fly tipping/domestic waste.  Members were informed 
that these were part of street scene services and would therefore be covered 
under the appropriate remit item relating to waste and street scene.

Page - 4



The recommendation contained within the report was proposed, seconded and 
agreed.

Recommendation:

That the remit as outlined within report LDS233 is agreed to allow for a 
detailed work programme to be developed for the remainder of the 
municipal year and beyond.

13. CONSIDERATION OF THE POTENTIAL WORK PROGRAMME FOR THE 
ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

A copy of a draft work programme was appended to the agenda.  The 
Chairman asked that if any Member had an item that they wished to be 
included on the agenda plenty of notice was required to enable relevant 
paperwork to be compiled.  Two or three days before the meeting was not 
enough notice.

One Member referred to the item on the work programme concerning the use of 
DNA scheme to deter dog fouling.  He felt that this issue was a waste of time 
and that officers should not be tasked with looking into an issue that he felt the 
issue was not a viable item and he proposed that it not be included on the work 
programme, his proposal received a seconder.

A discussion then followed on the topic.  One example was given of dog fouling 
in Bourne Woods, however the Cabinet Member Environment stated that 
Bourne Woods came under the jurisdiction of the Forestry Commission and 
people did not have to clear up after their dogs, but were asked to flick the 
offending mess off the paths.  In some authorities they had changed legislation 
with regard to Public Space Protection Orders so that fines could be given in 
these areas which covered costs of dog fouling.  He felt that DNA testing was 
not necessarily a waste of time but should be included in discussions on the 
topic, it was an issue that was always raised a Parish Council meetings and 
should be debated together with all options available.  The Member who had 
made the proposal still insisted that DNA testing was a waste of time and 
officers should not waste time on it.

The Cabinet Member Environment stated that it was important to recognise that 
DNA testing existed and that it was part of a larger discussion on the topic with 
all other options and ideas being looked at with a view to how best to tackle the 
problem of dog fouling.   

It was proposed that rather than have DNA testing in the topic title that it be 
given a wider heading such as “options to deter dog fouling” would the Member 
be happy with this heading.  The Member was happy with the proposed title 
and withdraw his proposal.  Further discussion followed with other Members 
stating that it was an item that was consistently raised at Parish Council 

Page - 5



meetings.  Members felt that often the culprits were known by the Parish 
Council but nothing was done because they did not want to be the recipients of 
abuse.  Some Parish Councils had schemes in place where parish councillors 
were trained and licensed to issue fines and one Member asked how many had 
been issued.    The Executive Manager Environment said that he did not have 
that information however, Neighbourhood Teams did take note of dog fouling 
and if owners and addresses were available to them they did contact people 
and offer encouragement and education.   One Member asked if more bins 
could be made available within the district and another Member referred to 
PCSO’s and whether or not they could issue fines for dog fouling, unfortunately 
byelaws prevented them for issuing fines.    A request was made that Members 
be issued with a list of what a PCSO could do.

Resolved:  That the Work programme heading be changed to “Options to 
Deter Dog Fouling”

14. BIG CLEAN

Following on from the last meeting of the Committee and the decision made at 
Council the implementation phase was progressing.  Equipment and plant were 
being procured and the website was up and running, to the date of the meeting 
335 issues had been notified.  44 people had been interviewed, the majority 
being local people.  Promotion work on volunteering was being undertaken and 
the Communication Team were working well to engage volunteer groups on 
social media.  The Cabinet Member Environment encouraged Members to get 
Parish Councils let us know where there were issues in the rural areas and to 
get involved.  

The Big Clean was a large logistical exercise which was coming together.  
Training was being undertaken at the beginning of August and risks were being 
managed.  The employment front was looking good with between 36 and 50 
people being employed to cover the scheme who were locally based.  A 
significant logistical issue was an alternative site for storage of the site 
equipment although this had been addressed and there were no major issues.   
A comment was made about people’s impatience and it was stated that 
communications were constantly up dated and an interactive service was 
available enabling people to see how issues were progressing.

One Member commented that people could self-help, for example where weeds 
were situated on pavements fronting their property they could pull the weeds 
out.  The Cabinet Member Environment agreed, it was important that the 
project instilled a sense of pride in neighbourhoods so that everyone looked 
after their own patch, part of that engagement was also working with schools to 
educate both children and parents alike. 

Reference was then made to not just domestic properties but also shop fronts 
and fast food outlets work was being done to engage with businesses so that 

Page - 6



they took pride in their buildings and surroundings.   One Member stated that 
the proposed Big Clean had gone down well within Parishes but queried how 
the map on the website worked if it was for a large area.  A description field 
was included on the website and this should be completed accordingly and only 
necessitated one “pin” on the map for the area concerned.  A further question 
was asked about timescales and how much notice would be given to when 
work was carried out.  Currently a skeleton work plan had been made for every 
location.  Depending upon the speed that work was carried out and the number 
of areas to cover within each area the plan would be added to. The 
Communication section would be mailing messages to parishes updating them 
on progress, twitter feeds would be used also as well as before and after 
pictures.  The work plan at this stage was very much a work in progress.

One Member thanked the Cabinet Member for attending a recent Market 
Deeping Town Council meeting and that he had volunteered.  He then asked 
what sort of issues that had been received that fell out of the scope.  Typical 
examples were given such as the reporting of pot holes, grass verges not being 
cut, broken fencing on private land, there was a narrative box for people to 
complete.  With the issues that fell out of scope people were contacted and 
informed that the issue had been passed to the relevant body.  Issues that 
were the responsibility such as fly tipping would be dealt with under the normal 
process, the same with graffiti if it was offensive and located where there was a 
lot of foot fall.  A further reference was made to prominent graffiti on private 
land, permission was sort from owners before work was carried out.

It was stressed that the update was a verbal update to give Members some 
context to the Big Clean project. Once the project had been completed an 
evaluation would be carried out.

Further references were then made to shop frontages and the Cabinet Member 
Environment confirmed that the shop front scheme had been agreed to 
continue at a recent Governance and Audit Committee meeting which would 
aid in lifting the street scene.  Conversations had been undertaken with 
Lincolnshire County Council on a number of areas and they would continue to 
spray weeds but by co-ordinating efforts this would be better addressed.  The 
Cabinet Member for Major projects stated that in some case shop fronts 
extended to sides and this should also be included within the scheme.

A comment was then made about bins being located in new developments, 
however this was not standard within Section 106 Agreements.  Another 
Member commented on the basal growth of trees which affected both the 
footway and highway to which the Executive Manager Environment stated that 
this work would be liaised with LCC as it was classed a horticultural growth.

Further comments were then made about graffiti on private property and the big 
clean.  It was stressed that permission needed to be sort from owners of private 
property before work was carried out.   The website was monitored and 
anything offensive was dealt with appropriately.  The Member was disappointed 

Page - 7



that graffiti on private property was not dealt with by the Council regardless of 
gaining permission.  In the vast majority of cases, people had to be notified or 
permission needed to be sort to go on the private land or legal notices issued.  
In some large cities they may have a fast track process to seek permission to 
remove graffiti at short notice.  Instances of graffiti were looked at on a case by 
case basis as depending upon where it was located specialist equipment was 
required and it had to be dealt with appropriately.

The Chairman then closed the discussion and Members noted the update.

15. TRADE WASTE

The Cabinet Member Environment gave a brief update on the position with 
regard to the Trade Waste contract.  Currently the Council was in a good 
position and hopefully a co-mingling agreement would be reached in due 
course.  Reference was made to the Waste Management Partnership meetings 
and it was confirmed that the minutes from the public meetings were available 
on the website.

16. STREET LIGHTING

The Cabinet Member Environment presented report FM0007 which concerned 
street lighting which came under the responsibility of the District Council.  The 
majority of the street lights were footway lights, 3,593 lights excluding those 
which came under the HRA.  A list of all footway lights that the district council 
had responsibility for was appended to the report.  It was for the Committee to 
discuss whether or not Value for Money was being had.  The report contained a 
number of options but it was open to discussion.  Currently the energy bill was 
approximately £121,000 per annum and the maintenance contract was £50,000 
per annum. Within the maintenance contract all lamps were serviced and 
replaced every three years.  The contract had been carried out on a rolling 
basis since 2009.    Lincolnshire County Council had replaced their lamps with 
part night photocells recently.

For clarity the Business Manager Venues and Facilities Management said that 
the district councils lighting also covered car parks and bus stations.

Possible options were put forward such as replacing lamps with LED or rather 
than turning all lights off turn every other one off, or using dimmer LED’s which 
gave the feeling of light.

Further discussion followed with Members commenting on what LCC had done, 
they had not communicated effectively about their proposals. 

Some of the new estates located in villages had both SKDC lights in the village 
and LCC lights on the estates, there was a mismatch.

Page - 8



One Member commented that Bourne Town Council had asked LCC to 
consider turning the lights on one hour earlier for those people who were going 
or returning from work.

Advances in technology such as part night photocells and time switches also 
gave flexible options.  Investigations with other contractors was also raised to 
see if the current contractor was the best VFM.

It was intended that the list of SKDC lights appended to the report would be 
circulated to Parish Councils and also put on the website for clarity.

The Committee accepted the recommendation shown in the report.

Recommendation:

That the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee consider the 
options available at a future meeting and review further analysis on the 
options in order to recommend a course of action to the Cabinet.

17. CLEAN AIR

A short adjournment took place between 11:55am and 12 noon)

Members were given a presentation on Air Quality by the Executive Manager 
Environment and they were also circulated with Air Quality Annual Status 
Reports for 2016 for both Grantham and Stamford.

The Executive Manager Environment gave a brief overview for Members 
putting air quality in perspective.   A draft Air Quality Plan had been published 
in May 2017 which contained actions designed to reduce the impact of diesel 
vehicles and accelerate the move to cleaner transport.  South Kesteven was 
not required to implement an air quality charging scheme it was more for large 
cities such as London the final plan was due to be published in July 2017.  The 
Executive Manager Environment introduced Pete Rogers who was a Principal 
Environmental Health Officer who dealt with air quality.   The draft National 
Plan contained proposals around diesel cars, taxation and retrofitting transport 
fleets.  It was unlikely that there would be a significant impact for our particular 
area but until the document was published we didn’t know what the impact, if 
any would be.

Mr Rogers then referred to the plans that showed monitoring locations in 
Grantham and Stamford and he also circulated a diffusion tube which was used 
to collect nitrogen oxide data from car exhausts, diesel cars, buses etc. 
information was collected monthly and a report was compiled annually.

Sites in Grantham and Stamford were actively monitored 37 total sites across 
the district.  The monitoring locations on the plans circulated showed a 

Page - 9



reduction over the years of nitrogen oxide levels at the diffusion tube locations.  
Locations included base locations which were located away from town centres. 

An ongoing problem was located at Brook Street in Grantham which was a 
narrow street containing three sets of traffic lights in a short space of road, a 
school, a petrol station and shop.  There was heavy traffic including a large 
amount of buses dropping off and collecting school children at certain times of 
the day.    The Air Quality Management Area in Grantham ran from Wharf Road 
along the High Street and included Brook Street.  The Council had a statutory 
responsibility for the Air Quality Action zone and Plan which was approved in 
2016 for Grantham.  The Highways Authority were the main body which could 
implement the Air Quality Action Plan Measures although one of the biggest 
solutions would be the delivery of the southern relief road which would take 
heavy duty traffic out of Grantham town centre. Improvement of traffic 
management systems also helped to reduce congestion along the Manthorpe 
Road corridor leading into Brook Street making the traffic more fluid.

A Member asked what happened if the nitrogen oxide level exceeded 40 to 
which Mr Roger replied if they exceed 40 an air quality monitoring area would 
be declared and actions taken to reduce the levels. South Kesteven District 
Council’s Air quality action plan can be found on our website at 
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8323

A discussion then followed on when levels were monitored and whether they 
could be done as specific times only.    To monitor levels at specific times and 
in specific areas was labour intensive and required a power supply.    

It was in 1996 that a statutory duty was placed on authorities throughout the 
Country to carry out a technical assessment on air quality. The Air Quality 
Management Area was put in place in Grantham as the averages were too 
high.

One Member suggested that a good location for monitoring would be the 
junction at Belton Lane/Hill Avenue in Grantham near to the public park as 
traffic backed up there regularly.   Another Member asked about the dispersal 
of gas and this fell quickly the further you were away from the road.

The Chairman suggested three further locations in Stamford due to the new 
traffic lights and the build-up of traffic. The locations were St Mary’s Street, St 
Mary’s Hill and St Martin’s near to the George Hotel.

The Executive Manager briefly discussed the Air Quality Action Plan Measures 
and highlighted the cycling infrastructure to promote cleaner air quality, LCC 
currently had no plans to improve bus fleet emissions standards although non 
contracted services would be approached. Priory Ruskin had a travel plan in 
place and anti-idling campaigns had been undertaken which had attracted 
media interest.   The next phase would be targeted at taxis and educating them 
about measures to help with air quality.

Page - 10

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8323


The Chairman thanked the Officers for attending and the information given and 
it was; 

Resolved:  That an update on the Air Quality figures would be given in 
approximately six months’ time.

18. CLOSE OF MEETING

The meeting closed at 12.35pm.

Page - 11



Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Report of: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley
Cabinet Member for Environment 

Report to:

Date:

Subject:

Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee

26th September 2017

Big Clean Update - Report Number ENV670

Decision
Proposal:

No decision required- Update Paper

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member:

Councillor Dr Peter Moseley
Cabinet Member for Environment 

Report author:

Reviewed by:

Signed off by:

Approved for 
publication

Keith Rowe Service Manager, Street Scene
01476 406 370 k.rowe@southkesteven.gov.uk
Date: 7.09.2017

Ian Yates Assistant Director,  Environment
01476 406 201 i.yates@southkesteven.gov.uk
Date: 8.09.2017

Daren Turner             Strategic Director
01476 406301  d.turner@southkesteven.gov.uk
Date: 12.09.2017

Councillor Dr Peter Moseley
Date approved: 12.09.2017

SUMMARY  
This report provides an update on the progress of the Big Clean project. The 
Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee recommended to Cabinet that the 
project be delivered at its 23rd May 2017 meeting. 
The project commenced as planned on the 7th August and runs for 12 weeks. The 
necessary resources, manpower and equipment were procured in the required 
timeframe and costs are currently within budget.
The cleaning regime is having a significant impact on improving the street environment, 
with over 346 streets being cleaned and 113 tonnes of waste collected (as of 1st 
September 2017). Before and after photographs (see appendix 1) demonstrate the 
impact of project.

Page - 12

Agenda Item 7



RECOMMENDATION
That the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee note the positive progress 
made to date and support future work to develop a South Kesteven Street Standard 
based on the lessons learnt from the project. 

1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT

Procurement
1.1 Tender exercises were undertaken with Lincolnshire Procurement to provide 

the necessary equipment (plant and vehicles) and additional staff.  There has 
been a mix of vehicle and equipment hire, agency workers and direct purchases 
where this was proven better value for money. Approximately 36 locally based 
agency staff have been employed. 

1.2 The choice of equipment and composition of the teams has proven successful.   
The mechanical weed rippers have been successful, however, manual removal 
has still been necessary in some areas.  The level of weed growth experienced 
has meant that some areas have taken longer to clear than anticipated. 

Operational Planning and Training
1.3 A range of operational plans were required to deliver the project, including 

health and safety assessments and safe working practices. All operational staff 
undertook training and final assessment before the operations commenced.

Customer Intelligence Gathering and Communications
1.4 A web based solution was designed to enable members of the public to report 

sites requiring attention using a mapping tool. Over 1,000 have been reported 
to date. While this made it easy for our customers, it resulted in issues being 
reported which were outside the scope of the project. This was also supported 
by our Customer Services telephone service for those who were unable to 
access the web. 

The project has been communicated widely with high profile coverage in the 
local and regional media highlighting the engagement with businesses, 
volunteers and most recently schools. 

Updates up to four times a day on social media channels have also actively 
engaged hundreds of residents to raise the profile and reputation of the council.

Scheduling
1.5 Following the training, the project commenced on Monday 7th August 2017, with 

two teams deployed in Grantham, two in Stamford and one in Market Deeping. 
The Grantham team started on the Earlesfield Estate and the Stamford team in 
the estates off Casterton Road. In both of these areas the conditions of the 
numerous small public alley ways were far worse than anticipated. Many had 
not been weeded or had hedges cut back for some time. This resulted in a 
considerable amount of additional time over and above what was originally 
planned. The work schedules have been adjusted to reflect this, but work in the 

Page - 13



villages and Bourne has commenced.  Stamford and Grantham will be re-visited 
during the remaining period to complete the outstanding locations.

Volunteers
1.6 Work has been undertaken engaging with volunteers, volunteer groups, 

parishes and schools to gain support for the project. Over 70 individuals have 
volunteered their support to take part on specific days as the project teams 
work through the District. Appropriate equipment is provided such as litter 
pickers, Hi-Viz tabards and black bags. 25 local businesses are supporting the 
Big Clean by maintaining an area of 20 meters around their premises. We 
continue to seek more volunteers as the project progresses.

Evidence and Impact
1.7 The before and after photographs demonstrate the positive impact that this 

project is having on our street environment and local neighbourhoods. Some 
examples from the first 4 weeks are shown at Appendix 1, a full portfolio of 
photographs is available for members to view. We have received positive 
feedback from customers, with the greatest impact being seen in relation to 
graffiti removal, trimming of overgrowth affecting footpaths and alley ways and 
general weed removal. The number of compliments via social media and 
through other forms will be reported at the end of the project.

As at 1st September, the crews had collected over 113 tonnes of waste and 
improved over 346 streets (163 streets in Stamford, 74 in Market Deeping and 
109 in Grantham). In addition, over 60 alley ways and paths have been cleared.
There are no additional costs incurred by the District Council for the disposal of 
the waste collected as these are paid for by Lincolnshire County Council.

Developing a South Kesteven Street Standard
1.8 Based on the lessons learned and experiences of the project, work has 

commenced on setting out a new South Kesteven Street Standard.  It is 
anticipated that this will set a standard for street cleanliness which is above the 
national code of practice on litter and refuse. The intention is to have this 
produced by the end of the project.

2. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED
Not applicable as this report is an update report. 

3. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
These are detailed below at point 7.

4. RISK AND MITIGATION 
No new risks have arisen.

5. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS (EQUALITY, SAFEGUARDING 
etc.)
Not applicable as this is an update report.

Page - 14



6. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS
There is a clear connection between standards of cleanliness and 
environmental crime. This approach should have a positive impact by assisting 
in delivering an improved street environment.

7. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES
Council, on 15th June 2017, approved additional funding in-year to finance the 
‘Big Clean initiative.  Funding of £661K revenue (£450K one-off to fund the 12 
week pilot and £211K to fund ongoing additional investment) and £226.5K capital 
was approved and this was funded from the Council’s reserves.  There has been 
careful financial management arrangements in place to monitor and track 
expenditure and as at 11th September 2017, £228,481 revenue expenditure and 
capital expenditure of £115,965 has been incurred.  The latter has been used to 
finance the procurement of additional street scene vehicles including sweepers.
Based on current forecasts it is expected that the approved budgets will be fully 
allocated to fund the initiative as approved by Council.

8. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES
Section 89(1) of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 places a duty on the  
Council to ensure that its land (or land for which they are responsible) is, so far 
as is practicable, kept clear of litter and refuse.   The Council should, have 
regard to the Code of Practice on Litter and Refuse that acts as a practical 
guide to the discharge of these duties.

9. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES 
None

10. APPENDICES
Appendix 1 – Before and after photographs 

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Big Clean report ENV656 to Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 23 
May 2017
Big Clean report ENV660 to Cabinet 1 June 2017
Big Clean report CFM421to Council 15 June 2017 

Page - 15



Appendix 1

 

 

 

 

Page - 16



Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Report of: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley
Cabinet Member for Environment 

Report to:

Date:

Subject:

Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee

26th September 2017

Dog Fouling- Report Number ENV665

Decision
Proposal:

No decision required- Discussion Paper

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member:

Councillor Dr Peter Moseley
Cabinet Member for Environment 

Report author:

Reviewed by:

Signed off by:

Approved for 
publication

Mark Jones Business Manager Neighbourhoods
01476 406 297 m.jones@southkesteven.gov.uk
Date: 16.08.2017

Ian Yates Assistant Director Environment
01476 406 201 i.yates@southkesteven.gov.uk
Date: 8.09.2017

Daren Turner   Strategic Director 
01476 406 301 d.turner@southkesteven.gov.uk
Date: 12.09.2017

Councillor Dr Peter Moseley
Date approved 12.09.2017

SUMMARY  
This report has been prepared in order to update members on the current situation 
regarding dog fouling in the District and in response to a number of questions raised at 
a previous meeting of this committee.

RECOMMENDATION
It is recommended that the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee consider the 
content of the report and make a recommendation to Cabinet as to a preferred way 
forward. 

Page - 17

Agenda Item 8



1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT;

1.1 Britain is known for being a nation of dog lovers.  This reflects the high regard 
that the general population has for dogs, and the close relationship that many 
people have with their own dog.

1.2 Dog fouling is one of the most unacceptable and offensive type of litter on our 
streets. Recent research carried out by the Association for Public Service 
Excellence shows that 73% of us consider dog fouling as the issue the public 
are most concerned about in our public parks and green spaces.

1.3 Dog fouling is not only deeply unpleasant, it is dangerous. Whilst rare, contact 
with dog excrement can cause toxocariasis – a nasty infection that can lead to 
dizziness, nausea, asthma and even blindness and seizures. Children are 
particularly vulnerable to this infection.

1.4 Anyone who fails to clear up after their dog can be issued with a Fixed Penalty 
Notice (currently £80). If the fine is not paid and the case goes to court the cost 
of the fine could increase up to £1,000 which the person in control of the dog at 
the time of the offence would be required to pay.  The law states that being 
unaware a dog has fouled or not having a suitable bag is not a reasonable 
excuse.

1.5 Legislation
Dog control orders have been in place in South Kesteven since 2010, the detail 
of these orders is set out below.

 Dog control areas - No dogs allowed at any time within 29 designated 
District Council and Parish/Town Council play areas.

 Dog Fouling - All public open spaces within SKDC are covered by these 
orders.

 Dogs on leads – Dogs are required to be put on a lead in all public open 
spaces within South Kesteven (when asked to do so by an authorised 
officer). 

1.6 These orders will be superseded in October of this year and will be replaced 
with Public Spaces Protection Orders (PSPOs).  All existing dog control 
orders will automatically transfer to become PSPOs.

1.7 Scale of problem
Discussions with Elected Members and local Parish Councils highlight that dog 
fouling is an issue within South Kesteven.  The volumes reported to us are low 
with an average of 220 cases reported each year equating to 4 per week.  
These figures peak in the winter months with November- March showing a 
higher rate of reported incidents.

A small survey of 10 Parish Councils identified that 40% have issues raised on 
a consistent basis and 60% less frequently.

1.8 As you would expect most reports are from the main towns and villages with 
some evidence to suggest that lower lit areas and areas with less of a public 
overview suffering more.  There are indications that locations on the fringe of 

Page - 18



populated areas also suffer more as people do not feel as if they need to pick 
up from what they consider to be open countryside. However one such location 
advises local dog walkers to leave the waste off the path rather than for it to be 
bagged and left hanging from a branch as this has become an even greater 
problem. 

 
1.9 Our current response

1.9.1 Education 
This has been proven to be the most efficient way to deal with these issues 
within existing resource. Signage is installed at “hot spots” with signage 
templates also being circulated to Parish Councils upon request.  Officers 
engage with dog walkers during routine patrols in order to educate them 
regarding dog fouling and seeking their views on the scale of the problem.  

1.9.2 Enforcement
Reactive patrols are carried out based on intelligence from the customer or 
local community representative.  This is not a particularly effective or productive 
way to detect offenders given the nature of the offence.  Engagement with 
Parish and Town Councils is carried out should a problem be identified in order 
to discuss solutions. 

Letters are sent to all householders within specific locations that suffer from dog 
fouling in order to set out what is required of dog owners.  These letters can 
also be used to encourage residents to provide us with information to allow us 
to investigate further. Residents are keen to report problems to us but are 
reluctant to provide us with intelligence relating to the possible offenders for a 
number of reasons, fear of reprisal being one of those.

Fixed Penalty Notices (FPNs) can be issued by authorised officers of the 
Council and others designated to do so.  This could include Parish Council 
representatives and private enforcement contractors working on behalf of the 
District Council providing all those authorised have had the necessary training.  
The Police and Police Community Support Officers (PCSO’s) are currently 
unable to issue FPNs for dog fouling under the existing dog control orders but 
will be able to do so under the new regime of PSPOs.  The police have 
indicated that they will be unlikely to give dog fouling a high priority.

No fixed penalty notices have been issued for the previous three years, the very 
nature of the offence makes it difficult to catch offenders in the act.  Covert 
surveillance isn’t an option as legislation does not allow this.

1.9.3 Challenge
Dealing effectively with this offence is particularly resource intensive, long 
periods of time would need to be spent observing specific locations which does 
not prove to be particularly effective or indeed the best use of limited officer 
time. There is limited capacity within the existing team to carry out proactive 
patrols - five operational officers cover the District dealing with all aspects of 
environmental crime and anti-social behaviour. Their current workload is 
significant with over 2000 environmental and anti-social behaviour reports a 
year. 

Page - 19



1.10 Response - Suggested courses of action
There are a number of options to consider and some are show below. This is 
not an exhaustive list and Members may wish to propose alternative ideas.

 National initiatives - Sign up to Keep Britain Tidy and take part in their 
national campaigns.

 
 Local initiatives - free dog poo bags, schools involvement, spray paint, 

stencils.  These have all had limited success in other areas but ultimately 
the responsibility lies with the dog owner.

 Increase number of bins at hot spot locations.

 Continue as is, target patrols based on local intelligence, encourage 
reporters to provide details of offenders and progress on this basis.

 Maintain education - signage, letters, leaflets etc.

 Positive media to remind/educate - this has worked particularly well with 
the success we have had regarding fly tipping and littering with 
significant public support.

 Review current enforcement programme in order to provide an increased 
enforcement regime, aiming for this to be either cost neutral or generate 
an income stream from FPN income.  In order for this to be a realistic 
and viable option for an external provider this would also include other 
offences where a Fixed Penalty Notice would apply such as littering.

 Review the existing dog control orders and modify within accordingly 
within the new legislation with fines set at a level to maximise income and 
deter offenders. 

 Maintain a watching brief on those Authorities that have implemented a 
requirement for all dog owners within their area to register their dogs DNA 
on a local authority data base.

 Introduce a new public space protection order for the whole of South 
Kesteven to require dog walkers to have with them a receptacle to pick up 
dog waste and if they fail to produce one on request to receive a fixed 
penalty notice.

2. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED
No other options considered as part of this report

3. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
Dependent upon any subsequent action arising from this report

Page - 20



4. RISK AND MITIGATION 
No significant risks have been identified in this report, a specific risk 
assessment will be considered prior to any actions being taken as a result of 
this report.

5. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS (EQUALITY, SAFEGUARDING 
etc.)
No requirement to complete this analysis

6. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS
There is a clear connection between standards of cleanliness and 
environmental crime, as well as significantly impacting upon our environments 
this can encourage more serious matters such as criminal damage and anti-
social behaviour.

7. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES
There are no specific financial comments arising from this report.

8. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES
8.1 The legislation related to dog fouling has changed over recent years. The Dog 

Fouling of Land Act was repealed by the Clean Neighbourhoods and 
Environment Act 2005. This has now been replaced by “Dog Control Orders” 
within the Anti-Social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014 (the act) and 
forms part of a Public Space Protection Order (PSPO). 

8.2 If the Council determine that there should be changes to the Council’s current 
dog control order and introduce a PSPO under the Anti-Social Behaviour Crime 
and Policing Act 2014, section 59 provides that a local authority may make such 
an order provided it is satisfied on reasonable grounds that the following two 
conditions are met:

8.3 The first condition:

 activities carried on in a public place within the authority’s area have had a 
detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in the locality, or

 it is likely that activities will be carried on in a public place within that area 
and that they will have such an effect.

8.4 The second condition that the effect, or the likely effect, of the activities:

 is, or is likely to be, of a persistent or continuing nature,
 is, or is likely to be, such as to make the activities unreasonable, and
 justifies the restrictions imposed by the order 

8.5 A PSPO may not have effect for a period of more than 3 years unless extended.  
To extend the Council would again need to be satisfied that the conditions 
mentioned above are met. 

9. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES 
None

Page - 21



Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Report of: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley
Cabinet Member for Environment 

Report to:

Date:

Subject:

Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee

26th September 2017

Street Littering Enforcement - Report Number ENV668

Decision
Proposal:

No decision required- Discussion Paper

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member:

Councillor Dr Peter Moseley
Cabinet Member for Environment 

Report author:

Reviewed by:

Signed off by:

Approved for 
publication

Mark Jones Service Manager, Neighbourhoods
01476 406 297 m.jones@southkesteven.gov.uk
Date: 7.09.2017

Ian Yates Assistant Director,  Environment
01476 406 201 i.yates@southkesteven.gv.uk
Date: 7.09.2017

Daren Turner             Strategic Director
01476 406301  d.turner@southkesteven.gov.uk
Date: 12.09.2017

Councillor Dr Peter Moseley
Date approved: 12.09.2017

SUMMARY  
This report considers the opportunities available to support the ongoing delivery of 
South Kesteven’s higher street standard, utilising a different way of working and 
appropriate enforcement. 

RECOMMENDATION
That the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee

1. Endorse in principle the engagement of an external company or third party to 
issue fixed penalty notices for littering and other associated environmental 
offences throughout the District. 

2. That collaborative options with other Councils are explored.

Page - 22

Agenda Item 9



1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT;

1.1 South Kesteven has a responsibility under the Environmental Protection Act 
1990 to act as the Litter Authority for the District. This responsibility includes: 
street cleaning, litter collection and the removal of detritus, fly-posting, graffiti 
and fly-tipping on public land which is under the control of the Council.

1.2 The District Council currently spends over £1.3m per annum on street 
cleansing. This includes emptying litter bins, road gutter sweeping, litter picking 
and the removal of fly tipping. 

1.3 In addition, the Big Clean project is investing significant new resources to 
provide a much improved street environment.  To support these improvements 
going forward, a South Kesteven higher street standard will set out the 
standards to be achieved, incorporating education and enforcement. 

1.4 Anyone who drops litter can be issued with a Fixed Penalty Notice (FPN) 
currently set at £80. If the FPN is not paid offenders can be prosecuted in the 
Magistrate’s Court and fined up to £2,500. Similarly for dog fouling, the FPN is 
£80 and if the case goes to court the maximum fine is £1,000.

1.5 Fly tipping is a criminal offence which on conviction through the Magistrate 
Courts could result in a fine of up to £50,000 and/or 12 months imprisonment.   
For very severe cases, the Crown Court may impose an unlimited fine and/or 
up to 5 years imprisonment. The costs incurred in clearing up the 600 plus fly-
tips per year in the district is estimated at over £80,000 per annum. 

Enforcement

1.6 The District Council’s resources are prioritised on high level environmental 
crime (fly tipping) and other forms of anti-social behaviour. The investigation of 
these cases and prosecution at Court is significant, and the Council always 
seeks to recover its costs in Court. This work targets those criminals making a 
profit from their practices.  The current level of staff resourcing means that litter 
related enforcement is limited. However, there is an opportunity to bring in 
additional resources which could be funded by increasing enforcement against 
those who commit litter related environmental offences. 

1.7 Some Authorities utilise private specialist companies to facilitate the 
enforcement of on-street, medium level environmental crimes such as littering 
and dog fouling. They can provide other enforcement activities such as on 
street and off street car parking. They supply dedicated trained resources 
providing an on street presence to issue FPNs which can be tasked on 
targeting local priorities. In this scenario the principle that the polluter pays is 
applied, with all costs of this service being recovered.   This type of 
arrangement would support the delivery of our new higher street standard and 
provide a possible income stream to reduce on street cleansing costs.

Page - 23



2. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED
Increased enforcement levels could be delivered by South Kesteven in-house.  
However, bringing in specialist dedicated resources with the necessary 
experience and processes could deliver improved results with little risk to the 
authority. Future proposals could explore collaborative options with other 
Councils as part of the decision making process.

3. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
This report is seeking support in principle only. The work to deliver such an 
arrangement will require appropriate due diligence to assess any such future 
arrangements. This approach is an opportunity to ensure that there are no 
additional costs incurred.

4. RISK AND MITIGATION 
This opportunity provides a different way of working and there will need to be 
appropriate detailed assessments of all the risks if a proposal if to be entered 
into. Appropriate assurances and arrangements will be required to ensure that 
any enforcement activity is entirely in line with the Councils enforcement 
policies. The Councils reputation could be effected/impacted so clearly 
communicating to all stake holders the reasons for such an approach will be 
paramount. 

5. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS (EQUALITY, SAFEGUARDING 
etc.)
Any future proposal will require the appropriate impact assessments before any 
decisions are taken.

6. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS
There is a clear connection between standards of cleanliness and 
environmental crime, as well as significantly impacting upon the environment, 
this can encourage more serious forms of anti-social behaviour. This approach 
should have a positive impact by assisting in delivering an improved street 
environment.

7. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES
At this stage there are no financial consequences to this course of action. Any 
future proposals will be fully evaluated and a business case produced.

8. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES
For the purposes of issuing fixed penalty notices to those committing littering, 
graffiti, fly-posting and dog fouling offences  both the Clean Neighbourhoods 
and Environment Act 2005 and, the Dogs (Fouling on Land) Act 1996 contain 
provision that extends the description of  ‘authorised officers’ to allow the 
Council to appoint an external company to issue FPNs under the relevant 
legislation.  It must be noted that the authority contained in the legislation is to 
allow an external company to issue of the FPN only.

Page - 24


	Agenda
	5 Action Notes from the meeting held on 18th July 2017
	7 Big Clean Update
	8 Dog Fouling
	9 Street Littering Enforcement

